
 

Minutes 

MEETING TITLE Gas Advisory Board 

MEETING NO 20 

DATE Tuesday, 26 May 2015 

TIME 1:05 PM – 2:05 PM 

LOCATION IMO Boardroom, Level 17, St Georges Tce Perth 

 

Attendees Class Comment 

Allan Dawson Chair  

Kate Ryan IMO  

Stewart Gallagher Gas Producer  

Pete DiBona Gas Producer  

Mark Cooper Pipeline Owner/Operator  

John Jamieson Pipeline Owner/Operator  

Mike Lauer Gas Shipper  

Andrew Sutherland Gas Shipper  

Mike Shaw Large Gas User  

Ian Mumford Large Gas User  

Matthew Martin  Coordinator of Energy Proxy 

Natalia Kostecki Minister’s Appointee – Small End Users Proxy 

Natalie Jackson Economic Regulation Authority (ERA) – 
Observer 

Proxy 

Bryon McLaughlin Minister’s Appointee – Observer Proxy 

Dave Rafferty Santos Observer 

Don Bower Energy Access Services Observer 

Hans Niklasson Kleenheat Gas Observer 

Erin Stone IMO Presenter 

Mark Katsikandarakis IMO Presenter 

Marc Hettler IMO Observer 

Peter Shardlow IMO Observer 

Chris Wilson IMO Observer 

Joachim Tan IMO Observer 

Laura Koziol IMO Minutes 
 

Page 1 of 7 Minutes: Gas Advisory Board 
Tuesday, 26 May 2015 



 

Apologies Class Comment 

Ray Challen Coordinator of Energy Proxy attended 

Aden Barker Minister’s Appointee – Small End Users Proxy attended 

Nerea Ugarte Minister’s Appointee – Observer Proxy attended 

Elizabeth Walters ERA –  Observer Proxy attended 

 

Item Subject Action 

1.  WELCOME 
The Chair opened the meeting at 1:05 PM and welcomed all members and 
observers to the 20th Gas Advisory Board (GAB) meeting. 

 

2.  MEETING APOLOGIES/ATTENDANCE 
The following proxies were noted: 

• Matthew Martin (proxy for Ray Challen) 

• Natalia Kostecki (proxy for Aden Barker) 

• Bryon McLaughlin (proxy for Nerea Ugarte) 

• Natalie Jackson (proxy for Elizabeth Walters) 

The following presenters/observers were noted: 

• Dave Rafferty (Santos) 

• Hans Niklassen (Kleenheat Gas) 

• Don Bower (Energy Access Services) 

• Erin Stone (IMO) 

• Mark Katsikandarakis (IMO) 

• Marc Hettler (IMO) 

• Peter Shardlow (IMO) 

• Chris Wilson (IMO) 

• Joachim Tan (IMO) 

• Laura Koziol (IMO) 

The Chair noted that Mr Andrew Sutherland had provided his apologies, 
noting that he had to leave at 2:00 PM and requested that agenda item 8 
be covered earlier in the meeting. The Chair agreed and re-ordered the 
agenda. 

 

3.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of GAB Meeting No. 18, held on 16 December 2014 were 
circulated prior to the meeting. No further comments were raised and the 
minutes of the previous meeting were accepted as a true record. 

Action Point: The IMO to publish the minutes of Meeting No. 18 on the 
IMO’s website as final. 

 

 

 

 

IMO 

4.  ACTIONS ARISING  
Ms Kate Ryan advised that all four action items had been completed. No 
GAB members had any questions or comments. 

 

Page 2 of 7 
 

Minutes: Gas Advisory Board 
Tuesday, 26 May 2015 



 

5.  OVERVIEW OF GSI RULE AND PROCEDURE CHANGES 
Ms Ryan noted that the Rule Change Proposal: Amendments to Schedule 2 
– GBB Zones (GRC_2015_01) commenced on 20 March 2015. No 
Rule Change Proposals or Procedure Change Proposals were currently 
being progressed.  

 

6. REVIEW OF THE BENEFITS AND COSTS OF THE GAS SERVICES 
INFORMATION 
The Chair introduced Ms Erin Stone to provide an overview of the review 
of the benefits and costs of the Gas Services Information (GSI) which was 
scheduled for 2015. Ms Stone noted that during implementation of the GSI, 
the IMO had agreed to undertake this review once the GSI had been in 
operation for an appropriate period. Ms Stone summarised the planned 
scope of work for the review. GAB members discussed the following key 
points: 

• Mr Sutherland asked whether it was the correct time to undertake such 
a review. Mr Pete DiBona noted that the context had changed since 
the request for the IMO to undertake this review was made and 
questioned whether there was still value in undertaking the 
cost-benefit study if the outcomes were obvious. The Chair clarified 
that the IMO had undertaken a forward looking cost-benefit study 
during the implementation of the GSI and as part of the project had 
agreed to undertake a post implementation review to reaffirm the costs 
and benefits. The Chair noted that this process was common and that 
the IMO had undertaken a similar exercise with the introduction of the 
Balancing Market in the Wholesale Electricity Market (WEM). 
Mr Sutherland noted that he did not think that such a review would 
provide value for money. 

• Mr Ian Mumford asked whether there would be an opportunity for input 
from third parties. Ms Stone noted that the scope was left open for the 
consultant to propose a consultation approach, but expected that there 
would also be a formal consultation document released for broader 
stakeholder comment. 

• Mr Mark Cooper noted that the IMO had not received any proposals 
from its recent request for quote and asked how the IMO would go 
about finding a consultant to undertake the review. Ms Ryan noted that 
the proposal was to undertake the review in a shortened timeframe but 
that later in the year there shouldn’t be a problem finding suitable 
consultants. The Chair noted that many energy sector consultants 
were currently busy with work in the electricity sector. 

• Mr Stewart Gallagher asked whether the previous analysis had 
quantified the costs and benefits and whether the proposed review 
would do so. The Chair confirmed that both the previous review and 
the proposed review included quantification of the costs and benefits 
of the GSI. 

• The Chair noted that the IMO could circulate the cost-benefit study 
undertaken during the implementation of the GSI along with the 
associated cost to help GAB members decide whether there was value 
in undertaking this review. The Chair noted that the IMO considered 
that the review would be valuable but acknowledged GAB members’ 
questions over value for money.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 3 of 7 
 

Minutes: Gas Advisory Board 
Tuesday, 26 May 2015 



 

• Mr John Jamieson asked what would be done with the information 
produced as part of the review. The Chair said it would be published 
for stakeholders but that there may also be some advice provided 
regarding improvements to the GSI. Mr Mike Lauer noted that such 
recommendations would be a useful part of the review but that the 
reaffirmation of the costs and benefits in itself may not be.  

• The Chair noted that the IMO had budget to undertake a review and 
suggested that if GAB members wanted to commission a different 
study the GAB could request the IMO to develop a scope of work for a 
different review. The Chair noted that the IMO would include further 
discussion on the need for a cost-benefit review, or other review of the 
GSI at an upcoming GAB meeting. 

Action Point: The IMO to circulate the cost-benefit study undertaken during 
the implementation of the GSI along with the associated cost of the review 
to GAB members. 

Action Point: The IMO to include further discussion on the need for a 
cost-benefit review, or other review of the GSI at an upcoming meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IMO 

 

IMO 

7. REVIEW OF GBB ZONES 
The Chair introduced Ms Ryan to provide an overview of the Gas Bulletin 
Board (GBB) Zones review. Ms Ryan noted that, in light of upcoming new 
facilities, the IMO had decided to undertake the first five yearly review of 
the GBB Zones early, to advise on the approach that should be taken to 
allocate upcoming pipelines to GBB Zones and identify any other changes 
to the Zones that may be beneficial. Ms Ryan further noted that the IMO 
had engaged Marsden Jacob Associates to assist with the review, which 
included both informal and formal consultation with gas industry 
stakeholders.  

The Chair encouraged members to provide feedback on the review and 
also noted that the IMO’s GBB system was able to be modified relatively 
easily to accommodate changes to the Zones if required. 

GAB members discussed the following key points: 

• Mr Lauer commented that it is inefficient to require a rule change to 
allocate a new pipeline to an existing Zone and that automatic 
allocation to a Zone with scope for review may be more appropriate. 
Ms Ryan responded that this issue would be considered in the review. 
The Chair noted that some governance of the Zones was appropriate, 
but agreed that the current approach may be an undue burden.  

• The Chair sought clarification of whether there would be a stakeholder 
workshop. Ms Ryan clarified that no workshop was planned but that it 
could be arranged if stakeholders requested one. 

• Mr Mumford queried whether the report would be provided to the 
Minister. Ms Ryan stated that the document will be published on the 
IMO’s website but that there is not a formal requirement to provide it 
to the Minister. Ms Ryan noted that the report may lead to a rule 
change and therefore may be required to be provided to the Minister 
as part of that process. 

 

8. PRESENTATION: GBB – RECENT DISRUPTIONS TO PRODUCTION 
The Chair introduced Mr Mark Katsikandarakis to present an overview of 
the recent production disruption at the North West Shelf’s Karratha Gas 

 

 

 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Minutes: Gas Advisory Board 
Tuesday, 26 May 2015 



 

Plant on 13 May 2015 and how it was reflected by the information provided 
on the GBB. GAB members discussed the following key points: 

• The Chair sought clarification of when the actual effect on gas flows 
was visible to the public. Mr Katsikandarakis confirmed that the impact 
on gas flows was seen two days after the Gas Day on which the 
incident occurred. Mr Mike Shaw queried whether the Daily Actual 
Flow data would have been made public sooner if the Emergency 
Management Facility (EMF) had been activated. Mr Katsikandarakis 
answered that in that case of the activation of the EMF, the Daily Actual 
Flow data is published on the EMF on the day after the Gas Day on 
which the incident occurred. Ms Ryan added that the Coordinator of 
Energy could request additional information which could be made 
available on the EMF sooner. 

• The Chair noted that during the incident, electricity market participants 
were seeking guidance regarding the incident. The Chair also noted 
that although the incident was short-term, this would not have been 
known at the time of the incident. Mr Sutherland queried at what time 
participants could have become aware of the incident if it was expected 
to last longer. The Chair answered that the incident would have 
become public at the time the EMF was activated. Ms Ryan added that 
if the production disruption continued, the Capacity Outlook provided 
by 6:00 PM would have reflected the reduced capacity for the next 
Gas Day. Mr Gallagher noted that to do this, the operator would have 
needed to have completed an assessment indicating it would be a 
multi-day incident. 

• Mr Lauer noted that all users on the Dampier to Bunbury Pipeline 
(DBP) were notified of the incident, but not the details. Mr Lauer also 
noted that there is no state for the Linepack Capacity Adequacy (LCA) 
that indicates that an incident had occurred, as the amber LCA flag 
indicates expected curtailment of interruptible gas flows. 

• Mr Bryon McLaughlin noted that the Public Utilities Office (PUO) had 
engaged with North West Shelf and affected stakeholders during the 
incident and noted that the PUO assessed the alert level under the 
Westplan – Gas Supply Disruption to be ‘green’, which does not trigger 
activation of the EMF. Mr McLaughlin added that the activation of the 
EMF would not have provided any further valuedue to the short-term 
nature of the incident. Mr Mumford sought clarification regarding the 
thresholds for assessing the incident. Mr McLaughlin responded that, 
if the information about the incident had indicated a more serious 
disruption, the PUO would have advised the Coordinator of Energy to 
raise the Westplan alert level to ‘amber’, which may have triggered 
EMF activation. 

• The Chair acknowledged that the EMF was designed to support the 
PUO but asked GAB members whether the level of information 
provided through the GBB was sufficient and timely enough in cases 
of supply disruptions. The Chair noted that not all Gas Market 
Participants were DBP customers and asked if information regarding 
the disruption would have been valuable to other parties. 
Mr Dave Rafferty noted that gas producers were not informed but 
would have benefited from more information to help make decisions in 
response to the disruption. Mr Lauer noted that sharing information 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 5 of 7 
 

Minutes: Gas Advisory Board 
Tuesday, 26 May 2015 



 

through the GBB was valuable but it should not lead to an increase in 
costs for Gas Market Participants. 

• The Chair noted that in the WEM, supply disruptions are made public 
as Forced Outages so other participants can take appropriate actions. 
The Chair suggested that a similar mechanism could be implemented 
for the GBB where a notice could be published to inform the industry 
of a disruption. Mr John Jamieson noted a suggestion that was being 
considered for the national GBB was to allow a participant to issue a 
notification of an incident even where it isn’t expected to affect the 
LCA. Mr Mumford noted the value of more information, suggesting that 
the absence of information often leads to participants to expect the 
worst. Mr Rafferty noted that notice of a disruption would give 
participants the opportunity to prepare, including making any 
operational decisions to manage the risk or help alleviate the situation. 

• Mr Cooper noted that, there was a trade-off between timeliness and 
accuracy of information and that specific information is often not 
available in real-time. Mr Gallagher noted that the principal concern 
would be that such an obligation could force the plant operator to make 
a statement on the status of a plant before the issue was sufficiently 
assessed which could be misleading to the market. Mr McLaughlin 
noted that the information shared by Operations Management Group 
established under the Westplan was as ‘real-time’ as possible and that 
it would not be possible for the GBB to be as up to date. Mr Cooper 
also noted that the information provided in this forum was used for 
operational decision-making and may not have the level of accuracy 
required for the GBB. The Chair clarified that simple information that a 
facility had tripped and that the operator was investigating the issue 
would have been available and valuable. 

• The Chair reiterated his question of whether additional information 
regarding disruptions would be valuable from a commercial or 
operational perspective and, should an incident turn out to be 
prolonged, whether earlier notification would have assisted with 
managing and mitigating the effects. Mr Lauer noted concerns about 
information being misinterpreted, but suggested that a notice advising 
of a disruption could be published. Mr Mumford stated that information 
regarding a trip of a facility would be of value and noted that the 
threshold between a ‘trip’ and something more serious was a key 
issue. Mr Shaw noted different participants value and react to 
information according to their own business needs and impact. For 
example, Alcoa had a conservative approach regarding supply 
disruptions and would therefore place a great value on more timely 
information regarding such a supply disruption. Mr Jamieson stated 
that it would have been valuable for APA Group to have had more 
timely information and could have ramped up supply from the 
Mondarra Gas Storage Facility if required. 

• Mr Sutherland noted that the GBB responded as designed and 
questioned whether the design should be amended. The Chair 
reiterated that in the WEM, participants are required to notify the IMO 
of an outage of a Facility and asked GAB members to consider 
whether this should be implemented in the GSI Rules. The Chair noted 
that the IMO would include further discussion at an upcoming GAB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Minutes: Gas Advisory Board 
Tuesday, 26 May 2015 



 

meeting on the options to provide information to Gas Market 
Participants where a facility is unavailable.  

Action Point: The IMO to include further discussion at an upcoming GAB 
meeting on the options to provide information to Gas Market Participants 
where a facility is unavailable. 

Action Point: The IMO to publish the presentation GBB Response to the 
Production Incident at the Karratha Gas Plant on the IMO website. 

 

 

IMO 

 

IMO 

9. GENERAL BUSINESS 
Change in IMO GAB representative 
The Chair noted that this was Ms Ryan’s last GAB meeting before taking 
extended leave and that Ms Stone would be the new IMO representative 
on the GAB. 

Rule change approval functions 
Mr DiBona sought clarification of whether the establishment of a new rule 
approval body, which is proposed as a part of the Electricity Market Review, 
is intended to also take over rule approval functions under the GSI Rules. 
The Chair noted that if the governance of the WEM Rules was changed, it 
was likely that the governance of the GSI Rules would also be changed. 

 

 

CLOSED: The Chair declared the meeting closed at 2:05 PM. 

 

Page 7 of 7 
 

Minutes: Gas Advisory Board 
Tuesday, 26 May 2015 



<<

  /ASCII85EncodePages false

  /AllowTransparency false

  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true

  /AutoRotatePages /All

  /Binding /Left

  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)

  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)

  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning

  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4

  /CompressObjects /Tags

  /CompressPages true

  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true

  /PassThroughJPEGImages true

  /CreateJobTicket false

  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default

  /DetectBlends true

  /DetectCurves 0.1000

  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged

  /DoThumbnails false

  /EmbedAllFonts true

  /EmbedOpenType false

  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true

  /EmbedJobOptions true

  /DSCReportingLevel 0

  /EmitDSCWarnings false

  /EndPage -1

  /ImageMemory 1048576

  /LockDistillerParams false

  /MaxSubsetPct 100

  /Optimize true

  /OPM 1

  /ParseDSCComments true

  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true

  /PreserveCopyPage true

  /PreserveDICMYKValues true

  /PreserveEPSInfo true

  /PreserveFlatness true

  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false

  /PreserveOPIComments false

  /PreserveOverprintSettings true

  /StartPage 1

  /SubsetFonts false

  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply

  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve

  /UsePrologue false

  /ColorSettingsFile ()

  /AlwaysEmbed [ true

  ]

  /NeverEmbed [ true

  ]

  /AntiAliasColorImages false

  /CropColorImages true

  /ColorImageMinResolution 300

  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleColorImages true

  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Average

  /ColorImageResolution 300

  /ColorImageDepth -1

  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1

  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeColorImages true

  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterColorImages true

  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /ColorACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /ColorImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasGrayImages false

  /CropGrayImages true

  /GrayImageMinResolution 300

  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleGrayImages true

  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Average

  /GrayImageResolution 300

  /GrayImageDepth -1

  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2

  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeGrayImages true

  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterGrayImages true

  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /GrayACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /GrayImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasMonoImages false

  /CropMonoImages true

  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200

  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleMonoImages true

  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /MonoImageResolution 1200

  /MonoImageDepth -1

  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeMonoImages true

  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode

  /MonoImageDict <<

    /K -1

  >>

  /AllowPSXObjects false

  /CheckCompliance [

    /None

  ]

  /PDFX1aCheck false

  /PDFX3Check false

  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false

  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true

  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true

  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()

  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()

  /PDFXOutputCondition ()

  /PDFXRegistryName ()

  /PDFXTrapped /False



  /CreateJDFFile false

  /Description <<



    /BGR <>

    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>

    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>

    /CZE <>

    /DAN <>

    /DEU <>

    /ESP <>

    /ETI <>

    /FRA <>

    /GRE <>



    /HRV <>

    /HUN <>

    /ITA <>

    /JPN <>

    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>

    /LTH <>

    /LVI <>

    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)

    /NOR <>

    /POL <>

    /PTB <>

    /RUM <>

    /RUS <>

    /SKY <>

    /SLV <>

    /SUO <>

    /SVE <>

    /TUR <>

    /UKR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)

  >>

  /Namespace [

    (Adobe)

    (Common)

    (1.0)

  ]

  /OtherNamespaces [

    <<

      /AsReaderSpreads false

      /CropImagesToFrames true

      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue

      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false

      /IncludeGuidesGrids false

      /IncludeNonPrinting false

      /IncludeSlug false

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (InDesign)

        (4.0)

      ]

      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false

      /OmitPlacedEPS false

      /OmitPlacedPDF false

      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy

    >>

    <<

      /AddBleedMarks false

      /AddColorBars false

      /AddCropMarks false

      /AddPageInfo false

      /AddRegMarks false

      /ConvertColors /NoConversion

      /DestinationProfileName ()

      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA

      /Downsample16BitImages true

      /FlattenerPreset <<

        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution

      >>

      /FormElements false

      /GenerateStructure true

      /IncludeBookmarks false

      /IncludeHyperlinks false

      /IncludeInteractive false

      /IncludeLayers false

      /IncludeProfiles true

      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (CreativeSuite)

        (2.0)

      ]

      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA

      /PreserveEditing true

      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged

      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged

      /UseDocumentBleed false

    >>

  ]

>> setdistillerparams

<<

  /HWResolution [2400 2400]

  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]

>> setpagedevice



